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20 OLD KITTERY

after, leaving an infant son, John, and widow, who  married
Samuel Maverick of Noddle’s Island, or East Boston.

Little is known about David Thomson’s stay in New Hamp-
shire. He was visited by Capt. Christopher Levett in 1623.

When Walter Neal arrived in 1630 as the agent of Gorges and .

Mason, no rights of Thomson were recognized. He probably left
because he learned that an earlier patent covered his posses-
sions. . His place could not have been much more than a fishing
station, and his nearest and, so far as is known, only neighbors
were ten miles or so up the river, at a place afterward
called Dover Neck, where Edward Hilton and his brother
William settled in 1623. If there were any fishermen’s huts built
on the eastern shore of the Pascataqua before 1631, there is no
record of the fact. To be sure Williamson says, “Mention is
also to be made at this time of the settlements commenced on the
northerly banks of the Piscataqua and the river above., These
were at Kittery Point,at Spruce Creek,at Sturgeon Creek (Eliot),
at Quampeagan Falls (or the Parish of Unity), and the ancient
Newichawannock (or Berwick), some or all of which were seven
years of age in 1631, being collectively called the Plantation of
Piscataqua.”* He offers no authority for the statement. None
has been found. I have not been able to discover any evidence

whatever that there was a single settler within the bounds of gld
Kittery before 1631, unless it were William Hilton, who planted
Lorn_in Fliot at an early date. This fact will be mggtioned later,

About the first of June, 1630, Captain Walter Neal arrived at
Little Harbor, or Pascataqua, as it was often called, as Governor
of Mason’s Province. He found but few to govern. Ambrose
Gibbons came at the same time as factor, or general manager of
the plantation. Not all had forsaken the place with Thomson,
and some servants came with Neal. He occupied the house left
vacant by Thomson, and after three years returned to England.
In 1631 came other servants and agents, among them Humphrey
Chadbourne as chief carpenter. He built the Great House at
Strawberry Bank, now Portsmouth. Capt. Thomas Cammock
probably came with Chadbourne, the same who afterwards settled
at Black Point, in Scarborough, but earlier may have lived in
Eliot. Depositions indicate that Thomas . Withers, Thomas
Spencer, and Thomas Crockett came in 1630 or 1631I.

!
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"Williamson’s History of Maine. Vol I, p. 244.
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The plantation at Newichawannock was begun probably in
1631. Ambrose Gibbons had charge. Mason and others wrote
to him under date 5 Dec. 1632, “We praie you to take care of our
house at Newichewanick, and to look well to our vines ; also, you
may take some of our swine and goates, which we pray. vou to
preserve.” This implies that a house had been built some time
before and vines planted. Here tradé was carried on with the
Indians, who sometimes came to the number of one hundred. A
deposition shows that a piece of land was purchased of the
Indians. It probably lay on both sides of the little Newichawan-
nock River, called by the natives Assabenbeduck, and now known
as the Great Works River. July 13, 1633, Gibbons wrote to
Mason that Thomas Wannerton had charge of the house at Pas-
cataqua or Little Harbor and had with him William Cooper,
Ralph Gee, Roger Knight and wife, William Dermit and one
boy. Not a large colony, but Neal had been ordered previously to
dismiss his household and return to England for consultation.
With Gibbons at Newichawannock there were his wife and
daughter Rebecca, who later became the wife of Henry Sher-
burne, Charles Knil or Neal, Stephen Kidder or Teddar, Thomas
Clarke, and Thomas Crockett, who is sometimes miscalled Crock-
wood. Gibbons was then planning to withdraw from the ser-
vice of Mason and to settle at “Sanders Point,” near Portsmouth.
He frees his mind a little in this letter to Mason. ‘“You com-
plain of your returnes; vou take the coorse to have .Iittle. A
plantation .must be furnished with cattle and good hire-hands,
and necessaries for them, and not thinke the great lookes of men
and many words will be a means to raise a plantation. Those
that have been heare this three year, som of them have neither
meat, money nor cloathes—a great- disparagment. I shall. not
need to speak of this; you shall hear of it by others. For myself, .
my wife and child and 4 men, we have but ¥ a bb. of corne; beefe
and pork I have not had, but on peese this 3 months, nor beare
this four months, for I have for two and twenty months had but
two barrels of beare and two barrels and four booshel of malt;
our number commonly hath bin ten. 1 nor the servants have
neither money nor clothes.” No wonder that agents put on such
short rations of beef, pork and beer should seek other employ-
ment, and that servants without either money or clothes should




42 OLD KITTERY

renewed in 1712. The land sold was then bounded “upon ye
Southard Side with ve Creek going into Braveboat harbr and
upon ye North Side of ve Cove going into mr Roger Dearings
building Yard and upon ve Eastwd side bounded with ve Creek
which goes between ye Neck & ye Land formerly Called Lock-
woods land & upon ye Northside with two Acres beldnging to ye
Neck which is bounded: by wve land which was formerly
Accounted Majr Nicholas Shapleigh & now in ve possession of
Mr Roger Dearing & lying near ye highway & by ve house of mr
Robert Mitchell which Neck & Two Acres of land formerly was
in ye possession of John Pearce decd & after ye decease of John
Pearce was in ye possession of Joseph Pearce his son.” It may
be added that Margery Bray was not allowed to peaceably inherit
Joseph Pearce’s estate and that Sarah Jones-Mattown-Seavey,
who was made executrix-of her brother's estate, retained his prop-
‘erty against a suit brought by William Pepperrell, in 1685, for his
wife's inheritance. “ _
Next west of John Pearce George Palmer bought one
hundred acres of Walter Barefoot. Palmer and wife, Elizabeth,
sold this to Dr. Henry Greenland, 15 Oct. 1666. This Green-
land, born in 1628, as a deposition shows, was at Newbury, Mass.,
1662-4, and was ordered to depart from the town. He lived at
Kittery Point from 1666 to 1672, when he went to Piscataway,
New Jersey, whére a colony of Baptists had gone from the Pas-
cataqua and carried the name with them in a modified form.!
Greenland seems to have heen a political disturber. He was
engaged in lawsnits with his neighbors and at last was tried at
the house of John Bray and fined. He was banished from the
jurisdiction of Massachusetts in 1672. His will names a son,
Henry, and sons-in-law, Daniel Brynson, Cornelius Longfield, and
" Francis Brynson. His wife, Mary, was living in 1684. If seems
from_the following depositions' that she was accused of _being
a_witch. They are of interest as illustrating the superstitious
notions. of the times and preceded by twenty vears the famous
witchcraft craze at Salem. ‘

“The deposition of Deborah Lockwood, wife of Capt. Richard,

Lockwood & Deborah wife of John Phenix. These deponents
———

"Whitehouse's Contributions to East Jersey History, pp. 401-4.
'Court Records of New Hampshire.
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testify that Mary Pearse did say when Alexander Jones did sail
out of Piscattaqua River with Ellinor and Sarah Pearse and John
Pearse about November or December last a violent storm did
arise and Mary Greenland ye wife of Henry Greenlana did the.n
appear or ve devill in her likeness, that she was known by hu’
voice, namely, Mary Greenland & further saith ye sd Mary Pearse
did say that hir father did se ye sd Mary Greenland start out of a
bush wch made hir fathers haire stand on end for feare.

Taken ypon othe before ffrancis Raynes ye 18th of ffeberary,
166G."

“Deposition of Ann Lin (Lynn) being sumoned saith that
this deponent being at her mother Lockwoods house
Marv Pears was there and this said Mary Pears was talk-
ing ahout some witches that should be about Alixander ]on.es
boat when they were going to the southward and Mary Pears (]1_d
say after this discourse that her father goeing out to seeke his
cowes that Mrs. ﬁGreenland did start out of a bush and did fright
her father, or the devill in her likeness, and further saith not.

Taken opon oath before Mr. ffrancis Raynes 3 March 69/70.”

Greenland sold his place at Kittery Point to William Broad,
fisherman of the Isles of Shoals, 15 Oct. 166g. It was then
bounded by land of Nicholas Shapleigh on the northwest. and b_y
land of Abraham Corbett on the southeast. Broad and wife Abi-
gail sold it to Digory Jeffreys, g June 1670, and by him it was sold
to Roger Deering, 8 Sept. 1604. Digory Jeffreys was 11v.1ng on
land adjacent in 1662 and then bought four acres of Nicholas
Shapleigh, which Jeffreys and wife, Mary, sold, 5 June 11669, to
John Moore, Senr., fisherman of Star Island. The lot mcluc.led
“two Necks or Islands.” Jeffreys married for second wife,
before 1683, Ann, widow of Thomas Crockett. . _

West of Jeffreys, or later Roger Deering’s land, which his
son-in-law, Robert Mitchell, occupied, is a large tract of land
called the Point as early as 1651 and probably so called from the
very beginning of its settlement. It was originfilly owned by
Alexander Shapleigh, having been granted to him by Gorges,
and was inherited by his son, Nicholas Shapleigh. The latter
sold twelve acres “between the land of Thomas Langley and
Digory Jefferie” to John Bray, shipwright, 29 Sept. 1662. DBray
added to his lot, 20 Nov. 1666, by the purchase of twelve acres
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mure from Job Alcock, who must have acquired it fromm Thomas
Langley. It adjoined PBrav's lot on the west, “twentv-seven Land
vearcls by the water sidde.” Om it stood Langley's house, which
was to be removed in the following April. Dray gave one acre
of it to s son=in-law, William Pepperrell, 17 Nov. 1682 It
was the southwest corner, next to Langley's, running from the
wharf an:l huilding vard to the roacl,

THE BRAY HOLUSE,

The house built by John Bray, probably in 1662, is still standing
and 15 the oldest house in Kittery, It is yet a comfortable dwell-
ing-house, amd its interior finish tellz that it was once consiclered
a home of luxury. The house was anciently larger than at pres
ent, and here in 1672 and 1673 John Brav kept a public housze of
entertainment and was directed by the Court to put up a sign.
Some have spoken of this as the birth-place of the mother of Sir
William Pepperrell, but as she was born in 1660, it 18 more likely
that she was born in Plhymiouth, England.  There is no record of
lohn Brav at Kitterv hefore 1662, He was one of the pioneers in
ship-huilding and laicl a foundation for the future wealth of his
son-in-law, William Pepperrell. * An interesting ald painting 1s
shown i the Bray house. Some sav it 18 a view of Kittery Point,
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orcinary, with this proviso, that the tenant be such an one
|.||'!3:||1|T'|r1h‘-. shall approve of.”

Willigmm Hilton, brother of Edward Hilton, who settled af
Dover Neck in 1623, was licensed to keep an ordinary here 27
| June 1648. He had already been living here

by Alexander Shapleich in 1635 Doubtless, fishermen's huls
precederd this, but theré is no record of such.

as the

Hilton was succeeided as 'W‘f-l"l"l'l-l-.:L‘L:]H" by Hugh Gunnizon,
wha had martied for his second wife Sarah, daughter of William

; i s I iilowe of He vy Lynn, Caunmison leaserd iram Shap=
{rib- corae Linie, Milly and widow of Henry I (1 - A]

| the following {IL'-]1.1:|511:5'||'| shows, TFeb.

leigh, 5 June 1651, for twentyv-one years, five hundred acres of
land *at the Point where Mr. William Hilton now dwelleth” and

. 2z, 1687-8, Frances, wife
! of Richarid White, aged %0 vears or thereabouts,

i

depased “that
about forty-sixe vears past {1642) shee

livedd in a house at Kit-
tery poynt that stood then between the house that was Mr.
gans & the honse that Mr.

Tt T g . 1 B III' -
“upwards towards Capt, Francis Champernowne s land. Sarah
Mo
Careenland afterward lived in, which

Lvnn before her marriage to Hugh Gunnison in 1047 had been
tenant for three or I7n1_1-r vears to Mr. Shapleigh “in an old house

hous e it raT; - : - & river's it seatacuah.”  Here, | G, was made

nouse above sayd the deponent’s husband, William Hilton, did at the river s mouth at pusc i 'J.""”-I'- Here, n 1044, =

hver of Major Nicholas Shapleigh’ the cdeec by which Richard ? 2 conveved s1x 11'._LJ.IL|1§i| acres at
the head of Spruce Creck to ”II::'LIFI*' Withers.! Gunnison seerns

nat to have met the concditions of the lease and did not remain
loner in Shapleigh's house. He bought of Robert Mendum, T3
[uly 1654, two houses situated npon the Point; also Mendum's
:|F=l!_|:-| on the west side of the mouth of Spruce Creels where Men-
dum and John White did plant and all the land that was given to
saicl Mendum by the townsmen. This sale is recorded n the
Canrt Records.  Mendum had bought of Thomas Crockett,
Sept. 1747, a house and four acres, which Crockett har !l'“"-"'_'E"E
af William Wormwaad and helonged rl‘['i:i'::”ﬂ":"' to the estate ol
Jolin Billing. This was, probably, the lot sold by Mendum to
ﬁ‘]lln:“li.x:ir'.L. William Wormwood appears m 1633 a5 a settler on
York River.

In a deed dated 24 Dec. 1662, Shapleigh describes a sale as
follows : A warehouse which is now in my possession & is Seit-

tuate on a point of Land on ve Eastwd Side of Piscattagua river
mouth Camonly called and known by ye Name of ye warehouse
point Together with a 'lract of Land near Adjacent .& "I”':ruf':'
Adjoining Containing Twenty pole or rod or there about in
length npon a Southwest & by west lme runing from ye way that

PHYLLIS" HNOTCH.

At about the middle of Warehouse FPoint there iz an opening

in the rocky coast line and a pebbiy beach, trom which there 1s
arn easy ascent hetween clifis of rock. It is a fine natural site

lyes by ve South end of Robert Wadleys fence to a certan point

of rocks that lyes by ve river Sicle I»‘Iil'l'l"‘ with ve warehous=e So

foor
a ferry landing, and here. too, in later times ships were built. The
‘|ﬂ||-'.—:l'|'_" 18 now callecd “||':l_}'||i-‘_=' T‘*]lj!_;._‘!:,'- S50 ||;_‘;||||_*i_|_ 5_-;'-_1]” a4 colored
woman who once lived near by, As one stands at the opening

IIE“. a0 to Low water mark & Seven pole in breadth or thereabo
runinge upon a west & bw north line from ve sd South Corner of

i this notch, facing the water, on the left mav he seen the site Reoberr Warlevs fence down to Low water ma itk upon a Straight

>t the first house built in Kittery., Old residents say that the
T e ey e Mm LB B
traces of a t't"”:’{."‘ WENe ONCE 1O e H_‘]_Ii?lL‘TI_';‘Il I||;|_:| T . TT!_‘Tc' WIlE Maine Hist, L 1. LV., 108, 109,

a warehonse and the "ordmary” above mentioned. It was built

'll
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of Andrew Haley, Jr. About the same time Skillin purchased
of other heirs of Robert Mendum the rest of the original grant,
except twenty-five acres sold to Joseph Weeks, 2 March 16572,
and a lot to be occupied iy John Fennick as long as he lived.

The lot of Joseph Weeks was “on the East side of spruce
Creek heginning at Turky point, and from thence along by
the water side to a great pine, and from thence Northeast unto
an Ashen Swamp.”

Adjoining Joseph Weeks on the north seems to have heen the
lot of Nichalas Weeks, sold te him by Jonathan Mendwm z1
May 1681, for “two oxen &one Cow.” It was on the East side
of Spruce Creel, “beginning in at Martyns Cove at a stony
hrooke runncing up into the woods so fare as the sd Mendums
Land runneth East & by North, & mare over to runn from the
s Martins Cove by the water side unto John Phoenix his
bounes.’"

We have now arrived at the head of Spruce Creek, whither
Mendum’s grant extended. On the east i5 “"Pine Point” and
just south of it is Martin's Cove. On the west side of the
Creck is “Eagle Point,” and the point to the north lying
hetween the eastern aned western branches of Spruce Creek is
“Oak Foint,” In 1643 Gorges sold to Thomas Withers four
hundred acres on the Pascataqua, which will be described later,
About the same time he allowed Withers to choose four ACTEE
of meadow anywhere on Spruce Creek. March zo, 1644,
Richard Vines as agent for Garges sold to Withers for ten
poutids “Six hundred ackers lieing and being at ve head of
Spruce Crick at the marsh where the =aid Tho. Withers liave
tormerly heen possest of by Mr. Tho. Gorges and made use af,
hounded with two other Creekes one on the Easter side: and ye
other on the West side.” The four acres used by Withers
were probably “Eagle Point Marsh. The town confirmed this
sale to Withers, 24 May 1652, and added a grant of two hundred
acres more, "one hundred Acers at Eagle point, on the west side
of the Cricke, & the Cricke of Water It selfe, & one hundred
acres at Martines Cove, on the East side of the sayd Cricke, &
soe to goe up along on both sides the sayed Cricke, untill eight
hundred acers of Land bee accomplished.™  Alexander Jones,

"York Deeds, III, 112
ork Deeds 11, 7

AND HEERE FAMILIES

LOWER KITTERY,;

imar,

-

- ——
i L

1635-1700.

52&""""‘; L e

= - - = -

E‘_;dri e ¢ g h l‘ualmﬁ !

I Edehu Giindadan

1-’

¥
&
7
&
T

AT g

1 L "
Tt vk
‘rwr':zlieri~{;§ :
YTE. N oredsth

Church & Thovwod F;ewm&;



67

ANTY HER FAMILIES

G OLTY KITTERY

who was present when the deed was made, testified in 1666 that
Withers” land on the east side began “at a Necke of Land called
Pine Poynt,” and on the west side “at ve Western Criclke that
goeth in West at Eagle Povnt Marsh.”

f Withers sold, 4 April 1664, to ‘éﬁhﬂ [fennicke twelve acres
“Joyneing to a necke of Land Calle _pinﬁ;ﬂ-ynt.” It measured
twenty-four rods on the water side and extended up into the
woods eighty rods. There was a neck of land on the north side
called the “burned neck.” Fennick sold this lot to Peter Lewis
13 March 1670. A lot bordering this on the north, measuring
fortv-hAve rods on the water side by eighty rods into the woads
was sold by Withers ta John tfenicke, 10 April .1673, and the lat-
_ter sold this also to Peter Lewis, 12 April 1675, Lewis bought
¢ of Withers a strip "behind his Tat ™ twenty by sixty-nine rods, 25
Nov.r685. Fennick, or Pheenix, had a town grant of twenty
acres, 18 Aug. 1679, which was laid out to him in parcels at sev-
eral times. This land seems to have been southeast of the land
sold to Peter Lewis at about the head of Marttin's Cowve and an
the southeast side of the Cove. It bordered on land of Nicholas
Weeks, on the parsonage land which incleded Pine Point, and on
land of Enoch Hutchins, Sen. Pheenix bought, alsa, twelve
acres of Jonathan Mendum in 1672, This probably adjoined his
town grant on the south.

Enoch Hutchins bought of Thomas Withers, 7 July 1675, a
tract of land “the one end facing upon Spruce Criclee, heing
| twenty foure pooles in breadth, & runneng up by a broocke on the
South side of It, one hundred & sixty pooles.” It thus con-
tained twenty-four acres. [Its loecation is more definitely stated
in Hutchins’ will, wherein he speaks of his Garrison house and
“about thirty acres more or less fronting the maine Creeck
Bounded in breadth by Rowland Williams and Martins Cove,”
This was in 1603. Enoch Hutchins was killed by Indians in his,
: own door, o May 1608, and his wife, who was Mary Stevenson of 1 58
F | Dover, was carried into captivity. This seems to locate Futching’ - NORTH-EAST OF SPRUCE GREEK, 1762,

f | lot between Peter Lewis on the north and Nicholas Weeks and » Traced from original in Superisr Conrt Records in Boston.
® Jolin Pheenix on the south, at Martin's Cove, just south of Pine E ;

Point.?

Thomas Withers had a daughter, Elizabeth, who married Ben-
jamin Berry and after his decease Dodavah Curtis. Withers :

o - . — - = : p
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1722. The place passed to his son Daniel and from him to
Daniel’s son, Alexander. Old residents still remember the place
as the “Jones field.” A house, the last on this side of the Creek,
was moved from this place within the memory of some now liv-
ing. Alexander jones was living here as early as 1674. He was
probably son of the Alexander Jones who came over with Capt.
John Mason’s Company, and doubtless received this land as a
grant from the town.

The selectmen, with consent of Thomas Withers, granted, 2
June 1669, to John Ameredeth and John fienix twenty-four acres
near Eagle Point, thirty-five rods by the water side, adjoining
Robert Cutt’s headline, “along’ye sd headline to ye water side upon
a northwest and southeast line.” In 1706 John Phoenix and
William Sentle request that this piece of land be divided, “at a
place called Broad Cove near Eagle Point.” Sentle had married a
daughter of John Alcock. Phoenix sold his share to his son-in-
law, Hezekiah Elwell, in 1710. It was “at the head of Broad
Cove,” bourided “on the west by the road that goes to York and
on ye southern side by land of Walter Denniford & on ye north-
ern side by land of Mr. Godsoe. Sentle sold his share to Denni-
ford in 1709. Denniford bought eight acres adjoining on the
south, of Nicholas Shapleigh and others, heirs of Thomas
Withers, 11 June 1731. This last lot was seventeen and a half
poles in breadth on Broad Cove and stretched one hundred and
eight poles to the highway that goes to York, where the lot was
only eight poles in breadth. It was bounded on the south by land
of William Fernald and of Thomas Cutt.

We come now to the original estate of Robert Cutt, that
stretched from Crooked Lane to Broad Cove. His son, Richard
Cutt, gave to his brother-in-law, Richard Bryer, 16 Dec. 1693,
“all that creek of water lyeing betweene the land of him the said
Richard Brvar and John Muggridge generally known by the
name of long Creeke goeing in at the mouth of broad Cove,”
“as all priviledges runs of water small Creekes or riuelets or any

waters that pass therein out of any brooke or swampe into the

aforesaid Creeke as also liberty to Dam over the said Creek in any
part thereof for the erecting of a Corne mill or sawmill or fuling-
mill.”* The remains of the dam here built are very noticeable.

Work Deeds V. 100.
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It was made of large stones, blasted and transported hither with-
much labor and expense. The dam was wide enough for a car-
riage road upon it. About the middle of it was the site of the
mill. The millstone of red granite, still seen, was probably
brought from across the Atlantic. There is no stone like it in
Kittery. On both sides of Long Creek cellars indicate that large
houses once stood, and on the hill to the west probably Richard
Bryer lived. A road ran from the mill westward to the York
road. Another road ran southward toward Whipple Cove.

A beautiful meadow stretches southwest from Long Creek and
the mill dam, and beyond the meadow rises a rocky hill, which
commands a view of all Spruce Creek and adjacent lands. On
the southern slope of this hill there are traces of half a dozen or
more cellars, a brickvard and a blacksmith’s shop. The hill
slopes roughly to the west in a point projecting into Spruce Creek,
called anciently Long Point, when William Seely’s land was
described as beginning “‘at Kirkes [Carle’s] his land & so up by
the water side of Spruse Creek, to ye Middle of a povnt of Land
Called long poynt to a high pine tree on yt poynt.” The point
was afterwards known as Morgrage’s Point. The cellar of john
Morgrage is distinctly traceable. Once there was a lawn thirty or

forty feet broad south of it, but the waters of the Creek have

washed the land away clear up into the cellar, and so there has
been erosion all around the little curving bay southward to what
was once “Carle’s Point.” On this bay was once a shipyard, and
half buried spars could be seen here within the memory of some.
Here must have been, nearly two hundred years ago, quite a vil-
lage of artisans. Nobody remains to tell the tale. The land on
this bay was granted, 10 May 1667, to William Seely, first husband

to Elizabeth, daughter of Hugh Gunnison. It was bounded “by ye

creek on ye east side and on ye southwest end with a cove cornonly
called Karles cove and on ye south East with Karles land,” and on
the other side “by Mr. Robert Cutts fence.” The grant contained
twenty-five acres. Seely’s widow married Thomas Cowell, and
she sold this grant, 4 Jan. 1678, to Abel Porter. He sold it, 22
March 1679-80, to Michael Endle, and it was then called “Engle’s
Point.” Endle deeded it, 15 Dec. 1691, to John Morgrage for
maintenance during life, and it remained for many years in the
Morgrage family.? Seven acres of the southwest part of it were

York Deeds III. 39, 78, 103.
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— “and on all other parts with ye river Vulgarly Called Crooked
lane, running out with a long point into ye sd river.” Skillin
sold it, 4 June 1710, to Jonathan Dam with “Saw pitt & Sellers,
with ye ground ways for Shipbuilding.” Here, then, was another
ship-yard. The point is now occupied by summer cottages, the
most prominent of which, in the picture, is known as the Brad-
bury cottage. |

Next to Jonathan Dam lived Samuel Pray, who bought, 23
Aug. 1699, an acre and a half, twelve rods in breadth by Crooked

T

GUNNISON’S NECK, 1902,

Lane, and northwest of him were the “lands of Mr. Hubert,”
probably William Hubbard, who lived here but a short time.
Joseph Gunnison purchased a small house-lot west of Pray in
1721, and John Follet, who had married Sarah Gunnison, was then
living west of Gunnison and probably had been living there since
his marriage in Boston, in 1700. A deed says that Follet was a
butcher. .

We must now have arrived near the two acres mentioned ahove
as belonging to Francis Trickey, fisherman. He was, probably, a
brother of Thomas Trickey of Dover, and was himself a tax-
payer in Dover in 1639 and a resident of Portsmouth in 1652.
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He died about 1682, and his son John in 1686. Sarah Trickey,
widow of Francis, was living here in 1691. It was their daughter,
Martha, who married Elihu Gunnison. Another daughter, Sarah,
married Samuel Winkley, and he was living here in 1705. Three
generations of Winkleys here worked at their trade of boat-build-
ing. A grant of twenty acres, made to Francis Trickey in 1656
and reaching from Crooked Lane to Spruce Creek, was laid out to
Samuel Winkley in 1702.

Next to Francis Trickey there was a tract of twenty acres,
twenty rods on the water side by one hundred and sixty rods int'o
the woods, granted to John White, 19 June 1654. White sold this
to George Lydden, seaman, 9 May 1670. It lay “between th;e’
land of John Merridah (Ameredeth) and Francis Tr1ckey:
Lydden sold the easterly half of his land to Edward Clarke in
1672. Clarke died between 1672 and 1677, and the land was soon

kin the possession of Edward Lydden, probably son of George.

The westerly half of the original grant was sold by the he‘i1j§__0f
George Lydden, 20 July 1698, to Roger Kelly, who was still the

owner in 1710. Kelly had been a fisherman at the Isles of Shoals.
Edward Lydden’s part was sold to Samuel Skillin in 1705, and he
sold it in 1710 to his brother, Josiah Skillin, who had taken for

| his_wife Elizabeth, daughter of Edward Lydden.

The next lot of twenty acres on the west was granted, 19 June
1654, to Thomas Duston. It was 28 by 120 rods and reached
from Crooked Lane to Spruce Creek. In a deposition, made 28
April 1661, Thomas Duston gave his age as about 55 years. He
signed the Dover Combination in 1640 and was bef.ore C(?Llrt in
New Hampshire for debt,’5s May 1643. He is mentioned in Klt}—
tery in 1650 and was constable there in 1652. He had rented his
place on Crooked Lane to Richard Downe in 1659-60 and wasthen
living in Portsmouth. Elizabeth Duston, his widow,gave a deed of
the place to John Cutt, 19 March 1662. There seems to have been
some litigation about it years later, and the heirs of Duston recov-
‘ered the place. In 1678 Lucy Wills, aged about 46, and Sarah
Lidden, aged about 38, testified that Thomas Duston’s house was
formerly burned and he had to mortgage his land to ](?hn Cutt.
They say, too, that after Duston’s death, his widow maFrled a Mr.
Button.! She married Matthias Button of Haverhill, 9 June

1Court Records of New Hampshire.
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Next above Tetherly and King, on the river, the first settler

" known was John Andrews, who sold his house and lands to
Daniel Paul and Bartholomew Smith, 21 March 1648, and moved

to Braveboat Harbor. The deed mentions John Symonds on the

north. The next year Paul bought a house and an acre of land
of Richard Cutts, that had been owned and occupied by Stephen
Sanborn, afterward of Hampton. It adjoined the land of Paul.
His son, Stephen Paul, married a daughter of Antipas Maverick,
who lived further up the river. Stephen inherited the home-
stead. Daniel Paul was a shipbuilder. He is first mentioned as
a “mariner,” which usually meant the master of a vessel, in Bos-
ton, 26 Aug. 1640. He declared himself from Ipswich, England,
and gave a letter of attorney for the sale of lands in Ipswich and
delivery of money to his wife, FElizabeth. He signed the submis-
sion of 1652 and had.grants in 1653 and 1665. The last was “in
the great cove below ye Boiling Rock,” and he sold it to John
Sloper, 14 Feb. 1670. ‘

| It seems that a portion of the lot bought by Paul and Smyth
got into the possession of Joseph Alcock, Paul’s son-in-law, for
he sQld it in 1662 to Weymouth Lydston, fisherman, and Gilbert
Lugg. Lugg's half of the purchase passed to Charles Nelson,
and was bought of his heirs by John Lydston. The Lydstons
long lived here.

In 1659 Daniel Paul and Elizabeth, his wife, rﬂortgaged to
Richard Cutt, 66 acres “above ve boiling rock between Gabriel
Tetherly on the south and Joseph Alcock on the north.”t

John Symonds came over with Mason’s Company in_1634.
He was in the employ of John Winter in 1636, and was appointed
to lay out land in Kittery before 1652. Selectman in 1659. His
farm on Eliot Neck was granted to him by the town. The
name of his first wife is unknown. A daughter, Rebecca,
married William Hilton, afterward of Exeter. _He married for
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first settler at Dover Neck. He conveyed it to his son, Richard

Hilton, 4 May 1684, except a house lot of three acres. .It.was

second wife, in 1668, Welthea, widow of John Goddard of Dover
Neck and Qyster River. Goddard had come over in the same
company with Symonds and died in 1660. It appears that
Symonds after his second marriage lived in Dover.2

Symonds gave his homestead in Kittery to his son-in-lavg,
Hilton, in 1667. He was probably son of Edward Hilton, the

'See deeds at Concord, N. H., II. 33.
*See Historicai Memoranda of Ancient Dover, p. 371.

described as land “formerly possessed and enjoyed by my fatljler
in Law John Simons being bounded on the Northw.es,t 51_de
with Mary Bachellors high way and on the Southeast side with
Daniel Pauls high way,” to run back from the river “till it comes

LONG REACH.

to a running brook that is ye head of it.” This I‘and passed into
the hands of John Downing of Dover, who sold it, 23 Jan. 1699,
to Joseph Hill of Kittery, formerly of Opyster River. Peter
Staples was then living on the northeast and.Charlejs Nelson on
the southeast in part. It remained in the Hill family for many
vears. Others lands of John Symonds, west of the Great
tove as we have seen; passed to the ownership of John Fernald.

Under date of 14 Feb. 1648 we read in the York Deefls,
“Mrs. Batchellers Lot is bounded from the High Way. betwixt
George Rogers his Lot & hers to the HIEE Way betw1x't John
Simmons his Lot & Hers by the water Side & so up into ye
woods backward to a little Brook of Water & to run thlth.er
upon a Northe East & by East Line.” She was the third wife
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a
nd we do by these presents agree & declare that the sa

eighteen pounds is quitted.” ct the money and pay Mr. Hubbard. In 1676 twelve pounds

rere still due him, which he recovered by law suit.

In 1670 John Tucker willed a legacy to “Thomas Wells, Min-
ister of the town of Kittery.” Wells remained but one year and
Tleft through the influence of Mr. Francis Hooke. He was son of
John and Sarah (Littlefield) Wells, was ordained at Amesbury,
Mass., in 1672, and died 10 July 1734. The town was without a
minister till about 1772, when one Isaac Wells preached a few
times and seems to have satisfied all except Mr. Hooke. The
inhabitants petitioned® that Mr. Wells might be settled at Kittery,

John Shapleigh,
Joshua Downing,
John Leighton,
Elihu Gunnison
William tfernald,
Roger Dearing.

The meeting-house at Lon

under date of March '21, 1 ’

L{;S;p; Hi:ll il{lall build a Pound upon his own land, near th
eac eeting House, at hj ”? ’

y g 1se, S own cost.” Also a d

Sz;tec; May =, 1702_, mentions the “Lane between sd [PetZr
_ap s new dwelling house and the meeting house,”: :

was built on the ministry land S s ,

on the town records, bounded on

the south by Charles Nel-

Son, on the north by William Tetherly, and on the west

a plan of which appears

Ez tT.ohn Lidston, Richard Miller and Peter Staples. The
NO(:,. mg-house was probably never completed. Under (‘iate of -
- 27, 1706, the town voted that the Selectmen “shall with al] -

meeting house

was felt further north. T his at Long Reach seems to have been

abandoned. RN
Under date of July 8, 1728, the town records allude to a

“°
school in ye old meeti
: ng house at Long Reach.”
meeting was called there in 1732, d ¢ and  town

o .May 27, It.584, William Crafts who ke
oint, was directed by the Court to provide beer

the Point about 1667,

and i : )
due him, and the Corrit in 1672 thirty-five pounds were stil]

ordered the Townsmen of Kittery to col-
York Deeds, VI. 133.

but the Governor’s Council thought he was “not the best able to
Discern between sound & unsound doctrine” and so prohibited

his preaching any more in Kittery, promising ere long to com-

mend “an orthodox & pious preacher.” The promise seems to
have been unfulfilled, for, 6 July 1675, the Selectmen of Kittery

were presented at Court “for not taking care that their children
and youth be taught the catechism,” and 2 July 1679 the lower
end of Kittery was indicted for not getting a minister. The next
minister we read of in Kittery was Benjamin Woodbridge,? in
1688-9. He was son of Rev. John Woodbridge of Andover,
Mass., born about 1647, and died in Medford, Mass., 15 Jan. 1710.

In February, 1693-4, it was voted that the minister should
have “five & fortie pounds per annum in money and Sutable
acommodation for diet.” Fifteen pounds a year were allowed for
his board. A meeting of the lower division of Kittery was called,
13 May 1695, “in order to ye continuance of Mr. John Newmarch
in sd Town.”® This is the first mention of the first ordained min-
ister of Kittery,-who filled the pulpit at Kittery Point for over half
a century. He preached on alternate Sabbaths, during his early

'See Me. Hist. Coll,, Vol. IV, pp. 339-342. The petition is signed by
John Ball, John Billing, John Billing, George Boren, John Bray, Ephraim
Crackett, Thomas Crockett, Robert Cutts, Roger Deering, Roger Deering,
Jr., William Dimond, Robing Edge, Nathaniel fryer, Thomas ffurneld,
William ffurneld, Jeremiah Goodrich, Thomas Grant, John Howell, Enoch
Hutchins, Digory Jeffrey, Thomas Langley, George Lydden (Lydston),
George Liscom, John Liscom, Robert Mendum, Christopher Mitchell,
Francis Morgan, John Mededy (Ameredeth), John Phenicks, John Phil-
lips, William Roberts, John Shepard, Francis Teegy (Trickey), Thomas
Terey, Henry Toocker, Rice Thomas, Nicholas Weeks, James Wigings,
Gowen Wilson, Thomas Withers. '

*York Deeds, V 62.

*Town Records, I 46.
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Francis Allen
Francis Allen, Jr.
Peter Brawn
James Davis
Benjamin Frye
Joseph Frye
William Frye

Samuel Hill, Sen.
Michael Kennard
Sarah Mitchell, Wid.
John Morrell, Sen.
John Morrell, Jr.
Jedediah Morrell
Nichiolas Morrell
William Frye, Jr. Andrew Neal -
Daniel Furbush, Sen. Andrew Neal, Jr.
Reynold Jenkins John Neal

Samuel Johnson Thomas Weed

Peter Wittum
Edward Whitehouse

A STTL g 5t
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SITE OF FRIENDS’ MEETING-HOUSE, ELIOT.
Residence of Charles Goodwin.

In 1737 another list is recorded and the following names are
added, James Fenix, John Frye, Jabez Jenkins, and James Whit-
tam. The following names found on the above list do not appear
on the list of 1737, Peter Brawn, ‘William Frye, Reynold Jenkins,
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James Davis, Sarah Mitchell, Jedediah Morrell, Thomas Weed
and Peter Wittum. They had probably died or moved out of
tow?r'l 1769 a meeting-house was rernove.d from I?ove'r NeCkZind
set up on land of Friend Jenkins, opposite what is now tl:Le £ T;n
place. The accompanying illustration shows the site of it. e
stone at the corner, where the road from Sturgeon Creek meets the
road from the river, served in the old days as a horse-block fgr
dismounting. The church was demo_l.ished long ago and the
Friends have now no organization in Eliot.

BAPTISTS.

Humphrey Churchwood, member of the Baptist .Church in
Boston but 1csident in Kittery, addressed a letter to hlS- bre.thren
in Boston, 3 Jan. 1682, asking that a church be planted in Kltflt?;y
and that William Scriven be ordained to preach the Gospel. The
letter declares that “a competent number of well established

le” were ready to form a church.
peOIC))n tge twent\;-ﬁfth of the following Septerflber .Rev. Isa.ac
Hull of Boston organized a Baptist Church in Kittery with
William Scriven, Elder, Humphrey Churchw.ood, Deacor.l, Robert
Williams, John Morgrage, Richard Cutt, Timothy Davis, L.eon-.
ard Drown, William Adams, Humphrey Axell, .Gr?or,qe Ll_tten
[Lydston] and several women as members. William Scx;v];:.n
removed to South Carolina and it is supposed that some of his
flock went with him. It is certain, however, thaf: of -the .above
mentioned Williams, Morgrage, Cutt and Litten drgd in Kittery,
and probably also Churchwood. Leonard Drown died in Boston.

‘William Scriven came from Somerton, England, .and is first
mentioned in a deed of land from Elizabeth Seely to him, 15 Nov.
1673. He married Bridget, daughter of Robert Cutt, 3 July I 77.14_,
and lived on the little point of land west of jche Cutt—Whlpple
Garrison house, where the meetings of the Baptlsts. were probably
held. They suffered various persecutions. - Scriven was pri-
sented at Court, 6 July 1675, for not frequenting the public meet-
ings on the Lord’s day. The charge was not proven. He8 Wai
constable in 1676. He was licensed to preach II ]aq. 16 fzha}
Boston, was imprisoned the same year for the expression o1 ms

Landmarks in Ancient Dover, N. H. p. z12.
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SixTH GENERATION.

40. John P. Lord married (1) 2z March 1809 Sophia Ladd,
(2) 13 Oct. 1833. Sarah Noble. Children by first marriage:

JouN b. 10 Dec. 1810; m. Mary Porter, (2) Louisa Tucker.
the well known Rev. Dr. John Lord, lecturer on history.

WM, HENRY b. 10 Sept. 1812; m. Persis Randall of Plymouth. Mass. :
d. 30 June 1366.

SaMmMUEL PERKINS b, 2 March 1814; d. 1 Aug. 1815.

CArROLINE SorHia b. 25 Aug. 1815; m. Judge Nathaniel Bacon of Niles,
Mich. ‘

CHARLES EL1PHALET b. 11 Feb. 1817; m. Eunice Pike of Newburyport;
d. 19 Febh. 1002

Jos. BuckMINSTER b. 2 March 1818; d. 3 Feb. 1830.

_ SAMUEL PERKINS b. 19 Aug. 1819; m. Harriet Colgate; d. in Aus-
trailia.

He was

HARRIET ELI1ZABETH Dh. 12 Jan. 1821; m. Samuel S. Thorne of Ports-
mouth, N. H.

Susan Haves b. 8 Jan. 1823; m. Rev. C. E. Mussey of Westwood,
Ohio.

NatueaN AucusTtus b. 14 July 1824; d. 22 Sept. 1825s.
Mary Lapp b. 17 March 1826; d. same day.

Children by second marriage:

ELLEN AvucusTa b. m. Theodore A. Rollins 13 Oct. 1856.
CHaarroTrTE HAVEN b. 30 April 1836.

NaTtaAN AvcusTtrs b. 30 July 1833: m. Mary Needham, 1867.
Sarar NorLe b, 9 Aug. 1842: d. 18—

Jos. BuckmiInsTER b, 25 May 1846; d. Aug. 1894; m. Mary MoultS‘n,
1868.

Francis - Haves b. 31 Dec. 18409.

41. Children of Robert and Rhoda (Shackley) Lord:

Wirriam C. b. 30 Oct. 1825; d. same day.

EmeLINE E. b. 14 Dec. 1827: m. 15 Aug. 1851 Albert Emerson; d. 19
June 18gs.

Francis A. b. 2 Aug. 1829; m. 13 Dec. 1848 Olive Dixon; d. 29 Jan.
1860.

HARRIET A. b. 16 Jan. 1837; m. 2 Nov. 1853 Ezra E. Willey; d. 1881.
Three died in infancy.

WiLLiam C. b. 16 April 1838 m. 27 March 1862 Eleanor C. Morrill of
Winslow, Me.

42. HENry W. b. 18 Dec. 1839; m. 27 Aug. 1868 Arabella M. Clarke of
Rochester, N, H.
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SEVENTH GENERATION.
42. Children of Henry W. and Arabella M. (Clark) Lord:

EMmuma F. b. 14 July 1869; m. 25 Dec. 1895 Albert S. Bickford.
Epita b. 24 Aug. 1872

WaLTer H. b. 1 June 1874.

Frank S. b. 31 May 1876.

Lizzie K. b. 11 July 1878. Deceased.

ArTEUR R. b. 8 May 1880.

Irving C. b. 7 June 1882. Deceased.

WoonsURY S. b. 25 June 1824.

GrorGE L. b. 4 Aug. 1888.

Heren A. b. 18 Aug. 1801

, ® LYDSTON.

This name appears in the old records as Lydden, Lisson,
Lydstone and in other forms. George Lydden, seaman, bought
land on Crooked Lane in 1670. Wife's name was Sz%rah. He
was living in 1691, and she was a widow in 1693 and died before
1608. They had two daughters (York Deeds 1V. 138)

Mary m. Richard King.
SARAH m. John Lary. Widow in 1698. M. (2) 1700, Robert Allen.

lA dau., Sarah Lary, may have m. John Cator 24 Dec. 1719

Edward Lyddon or Litton lived on the next lot 130 Georgf:.
He married Katherine Chadbourne. The administration of his
estate was granted to his widow Katharine 1'8 March 1691. She
m. (2) James Waymouth. By first marriage there were two
daughters. (York Deeds VII. 199.)

Erizasera m. (1) 17 May 1707 Josiah Skillins; (2) 12 Jan. 1723-4

Roger Deering.
Mary., Unknown.

‘l George and Edward Lydston, named above, may have been

sons or brothers of Waymouth Lydston, who was li?fing on what
is now Eliot Neck in 1662. The inventory of his estate was
rendered g March 1695-6. His widow’s name was .Martha. He
ceems to have had sons Waymouth, mentioned in 1704, and
John.
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DanieL m. Nancy Wherren 10 Aug. 1805; drowned 4 Ma}rch 1814, aged
32. Widow Nancy made guardian, 13 Feb. 1815 of ch. Daniel, Mary Ann,

and Amey Coffin,

The children of William and Sarah (Gowell) Lydston were:

Pﬂ Joux b. 6 Oct. 1781; m. (1) Abigail Cole, (2) Dorcas Deering.
Removed to Litchfield, Me. .
¥  RoBiE b. 23 Feb. 1787. Moved to Bowdoin, Me.
v’ SaLLy b. 27 April 1780.
+ WiLLiaM b. 24 July 179I.
— TiMmotHY b. 11 Oct. 1793.
Nawncy b. 18 Nov. 1795.
v~ Tromas b. 17 Oct. 1797.

John Lydston married Mary, widow of William Tetherly in
1693. Her maiden name was Mary Roby or Robie. He prob.
m. (2) 2 Jan. 1724 Susanna, widow of Joseph Hill. Feb. 24
1752, he deeded land to grandsons, Robey Lydston and John
Deering, both of Kittery. He mentions daughter “Barshaby” to
be supported in her -old age and other grandsons Daniel and
“Weyman” Lydstone. Children were :

MArTHA b. 1 April 1695; m. Roger, son of Thomas Deering.

JouwN b. 25 April 1697; m. Abigail Paul.
BATHSHEBA, unm,

Gipeow, perhaps, bapt. in 1721. He and wife were members of the
church in Eliot at about that time.

John, son of John and Mary (Roby-Tetherly) ILydston,
married, 5 April 1722, Abigail, daughter of Daniel and Sarah
(Bragdon) Paul. Nothing more has been learned of him. -His
children were, doubtless -

DanieL m. 28 Sept. 1749, Mary, dau. of John and Catharine (I.ewis)
Remick. )

WAYMOUTH m. Abigail Spinney.
RoBIE, named in 1752.

Waymeoeuth, son of John and Abigail (Paul) Lydston, married
Abigail, dau. of Andrew and Abigail (Wingate) Spinney. Int.
Rec. 22 Sept. 1750. The following children are recorded -

JouN b. 25 Sept. 1751. Rev. soldier.

SaraH b. 12 Sept. 1733.

ANDREW b. 29 Nov. 1755; d. 1 Aug. 1777. Rev. soldier.

ABIGAIL b. 29 Jan. 1758.

RoBey b. 1 June 1760: m. 1 March 1785 Olive Scriggins. Rev.
soldier. Died in Kittery 27 May 1809. Wife living in-1837, aged 73.

MaryY b. 14 July 1762. .

WaymouTH b. 4 June 1764. Ch., Mary Ann, Eunice, Nancy, Nabby,
Betsey, Libby and Clarissa, bapt. 6 Sept. 1807.

ANNE b. 5 Nov. 1766.

Daniel Lydston, who married Mary Remick, seems to have
died about 1790, for Feb. 8 of that year administration was
granted to Gideon Lydston on estate of Daniel Lydston. There
is no record of his family, but the following were probably his
sons :

GipeoN m. Mary Willey 5 Sept. 1783. Estate administered in 1814.
Widow m. Wm. Wherren.

WiLriam m. Sarah Gowell, 17 Nov. 1780. She was dau. of Capt. John
Gowell.

MANSON.

Richard Manson of Portsmouth bought land at Ox P.oi1?t,
Kittery, in 1680, and sold it to his son John and wife Lydia in
1701. Samuel Manson witnessed the deed. Alfred E. Man§on
of Boston is said to have a full genealogy of the Manso-n family.
Several letters have failed to elicit any reply from him. ’I.'he
records of the family are very meager in Kittery. The following
children of John and Lydia Manson are recorded.

ANNE b. 21 June 1703.

Jorx b. 28 May 1705; m. Anne Son Richard b. 28 April 1741.

MATTONE.

The name ‘is also written Mattown and Mattoon. Hujbrecht
Mattone, for so he signed his name to the submission of 1652,
married,. probably for second wife, Sarah Jones, dau. of John
Pearce, from whom he was divorced. See page 41. He left
children, Grace who married Richard Pitcher, and Richard, all of
whom were of Boston in 1728. See York Deeds, XII. 125.
Richard Mattone married Jane, dau. of Edward and Ann (Dud-
ley) Hilton and lived for a time in Newmarket, N. H. Savage
sa"vs that he was killed by Indians with son Hughbertus 23 July
1706, but the deed above cited contradicts this statement. Com-
p;re‘Historical Memoranda of Ancient Dover, page 178.
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Children by second marriage:

ALANSON b. 27 Jan. 1846.
Ropway b. 6 April 1848.
Wirrarp H. b. 12 April 1850.

8. William Phillips married, 11 Dec. 1831, Joanna Beal, who
was born 20 July 1804. Children:

ALBERT b. 16 Sept. 1833; m. and 1. in Charlestown, Mass.

WitriaMm H. b. 20 April 1835; m. 26 Oct., 1862 Adaline B., dau. of
Charles Duncan: 1. in Boston.

Harrier A. b. 20 Dec. 1837; m. and d. in Boston.

MARY A. b. 2 Jan. 1840; m. and 1. in Charlestown, Mass.

Hiram B. b. 9 July 1841. Killed in Civil War Unm.

Joanna E. b. 6 Sept. 1843; m. Edwin Duncan of Kittery.

Lucra F. b. 8 Sept. 1847; m. Ginn. Lives at Laconia, N. H.

9. Joseph Phillips married, 29 Nov. 1831, Joanna Woodman.
Their children were:

CuarLEs b. 7 April 1833; d. 21 July 18s0.

GEORGIANA b. 31 Sept. 1834; m. John E. Tobey of Kittery.
11. JouN J. b. 15 Feb. 1836; m. Elizabeth Deering.

SABRA b. 22 June 1838 ; unmarried.

MANNING b. 27 July 1840; m. Harriet, dau. of Wm. Sewall of York,
who d. in 1801, (2) Mrs. Lauretta Yeaton of Bucksport, Me., who d. 7
Dec. 1901, aged s8.

Lucy J. b. 24 Oct. 1841; m. Horace Seaward.

CAROLINE M. b. 14 Sept. 1843; d. about 1875. Unm. ‘

SARAH A. b. 1 April 1845; m. 4 Aug. 1900 Wm. M. C. Philbrick.

10. Isaac Deering Phillips married, (1) 12 Sept. 1843, Mary
Ball Gerrish, (2) Irene D. Phillips. He died 16 Oct. 1804.
Children by first marriage:

George HENRY b. 22 Nov, 1844; d. unm.

Isaac AnprEw b. 6 Jan. 1847; m. Hattie, dau. of Jackson Weeks.

LAaura IsaBeL b, 10 Dec. 1848; d. 19 Sept. 1840.

Avice CeciLia b. 15 July 1850; m. Theodore Hutchings of Boston.

Mary EipLEN b. 10 Sept. 1855; m. Thomas, son of Abram Bray of
Kittery.

Apax Maria b. 7 Sept. 1857; unmarried.

SixtH GENERATION.

11. John J. Phillips married Elizabeth Deering and lived in
Kittery. Children:
CHaARLES E. m. Josephine, dau. of Jesse Frisbee, 8 ch,

JorN A. m. Georgia, dau. of Hiram Grace of Kittery. Ch., Leroy H.,
Georgia E., John B., Cushman, Alden and Doris b. 30 Oct. 190I.
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©® PHOENIX:

“John ffennicke” bought land on the east side of Sprtgc__:
Creek in 1664. He had a town grant in 1669. Is called
“mariner.” He married Deborah, dau. of Capt. Richard and
Deborah Lockwood. A deposition shows that she was born in
1646, and she was living in 1732. He executed a deed 26 May -
1721. Children:

GrorGce m. Hannah Jones.

ErizaretH m. Hezekiah Elwell, !
DesoraE m. John Ingersoll, Jr.

George Phoenix inherited the homestead. He marrie.d, 21
July 1709, Hannah Jones. Both were living in 1747. Children
were :

ANNE b. 1 May 1710; died young.

JouN b. 26 Feb. 1711-12; m. Catherine Lewis. Int. Rec. 22 Nov. 1738.
Both signed a deed in 1736. Dau. Deborah bapt. 4 Oct. 1741

Lockwoop b. 25 March 1714. Unknown.

Ricuarp b. 17 Aug. 1716; m. Dorothy Ball

GrorGE b. 20 July 1720; m. widow Hannah Perkins. Int. Rec. 27 June
1776. d. about 1779.

BENTAMIN b. 15 Jan. 1722-3. Unknown.

ANNE bapt. 23 May 1725; owned the covenant 16 May 1742.

HANNAH bapt. 6 July 1720; owned the covenant 16 May 1742.

Richard, son of George and Hannah (Jones) Phoenix, mar-
ried Dorothy Ball. Int. Rec. 28 Jan. 1737; m. (2) IO Feb. 1774
Mary Leech, who d. at Phillips, Me., 15 April 1821, aged 84.
Children were, perhaps George and John, and certainly RI(':HARD
bapt. 1 Nov. 1741 ; m. Abigail, dau. of Robert Moore. Bmhard
was a sea captain and was lost in the Straits of Belle Isle in 1775.
His children were: '

JosHUA b. 15 Dec. 1750; unm. Captured by the British in 1776 and
died in a prison ship in 1782. :

WiLLiam b. 11 Dec. 1761; lost at sea in 1787; m. 7 Sept. 1786 Mercy
Mitchell. She was living in 1824. Two ch. Mercy and William.

RIcHARD b. 11 March 1764; m. 3 Nov. 1701, Ruth, dau. of Samuel and
FEleanor (Brooks) Wilson. 7 ch. She was b. 3 May 1768 and d. 6 Aug.
1810. He m. (2) June 1814Abigail Maxwell of Wells, b. 16 Sept. 1778
and d. 18 May 1826. He died at Alfred, Me., 14 Aug. 1850.

1Gee Descendants of John Phoenix, by S. Whitney Phoenix, New
York, 1867.
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ROBERT b. 4 April 1767; d. 1803 in Limington, Me. Unm.

Jorn b. 3 Jan. 1770; d. 1 Oct. 1853 at Boston; m. (1) Joanna Wilson.
Int. Rec. 4 June 1791. 7 ch. M. (2) Asenath Kenniston. 2 ch. Second
wife b. 9 June 1783 and d. 1 Oct. 1863.

GEORGE b. 1T Aug. 1774; d. 1866 in Wis. M. 2 June 1795 Elizabeth,
dau. of Samuel Wilson of Kittery. She was b. 28 July 1773 and d. 3 Sept.
1751. 12 ch.

PICKERNELL.

James Pickernell bought land in Kittery in 1707. He mar-
ried Lydia, daughter of Charles Nelson. He was killed by
Indians 8 June 1712. See page 174. His grave is near the
house of Charles Caswell, Jr., at Kittery. In 1712 Stephen

Tobey was made administrator of the estate of his brother, James
Pickernell. Children:

SAMUEL b. 2 Sept. 1705; m. Esther Rogers.
Mary b. 20 Oct. 1708; m. Seth Fogg 28 Nov. 1727. Lived in Scar-
boro, Me.

JaMmEs, probably, had ch. Eleanor bapt. 20 April 1745, and Nelson bapt.
22 May 1748. .

Samuel, son of James Pickernell, married, 19 Dec. 1728,
Esther, dau. of Richard and Eleanor Rogers. His will, dated 2o

Aug. 1785, was probated 2 Feb. 1786. The following children
are recorded.

Lypia b. 13 Nov. 1729. Unm.

JAMES b. 17 Sept. 1731. See below.

Mary b. 3 Jan. 1733. Not named in will.

EsTHER b. 7 Dec. 1735; unm. Living in 1815.

SAMUEL b. 20 Feb. 1737. Soldier in 1757. Not named in will

' SArRAHK b. 28 April 1740; m. Matthew Grover, 14 June 1773, in Ports-
mouth.

Berry b. March 1742; m. Jonathan Junkins of York, 2 June 1793.

WiLLiaM b. 12 Feb. 1743-4; m. Mary Seamore of York. Int. Rec. Is
Nov. 1772. A dau. Molly bapt. 24 June 1781 m. Tobias McIntire 29 June
1794. He had prob. a son Joseph m. Abigail Caswell 23 Jan. 1814 and
moved to Berwick. Another son, Samuel, d. s. p.

NeLson b. 11 May 1748; d. 14 Sept. 1740. »

NeLsoN b. 8 March 1749; m. Anna Place 22 March 1774. She was
born 20 March 1749. Dau. Lydia bapt. 22 Oct. 1781 and prob. Harriet,
who m. Thomas Robertson of Portsmouth, N. H. 12 Oct. 1817. Nelson
sold the old homestead in 1792 and prob. left town.
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THIRD GENERATION.

James, son of Samuel and Esther (Rogers) Pickernell,sma;:‘l-l-
ried (1) 5 Jan. 1758, Sarah Wilson, (2)_ 13 ME}rf:l:l.I774 :rrﬂ
Pope. He was private in 3d Co. of .Kltte.ry M1l1t1a IiN ;111320
1757. Lived where Harry Cook now lives in Kittery.

Aug. 1803-6 Oct. 1807. Children were:

SARAH bapt. 5 Aug. 1764; m. Nahum Em_ery 29 Sept. 1800.
HANNAH bapt. 7 Dec. 1767. Unm. living in 1815.
JaMEs m. Mary Mclntire of York Aug. 1797. d. s. p.
Marcery m. Joseph Billings of Kittery 8 Feb. 1816.
MarYy m. Daniel Cook.

i second marriage:
CRIII(I:II?AS‘.i bapt. 10 Sept. 1775; m. Olive Welch.

FourTH GENERATION.

Richard, son of James and Sarah (Pope) Pickc?rnel\lz\,f xlzvz;ls
born in June 1775 and married, (1) 22 Oct. 1800, Ohv; e(c ),
(2) Hannah Junkins of York. Int. Re(.:. 31 Aug. 1821, 312
Esther Norton of Kittery, (4) Mrs. Sophia (Jacobs) Rlsl*c;n, 2
May 1850, who died 3 May 1879, aged 90. He was a s:od 1erb
the War of 1812, and died 5 Sept. 1862 in Kittery. Children by
first marriage :

Amos. See below.

Ricaarp. Unm. Drowned at sea.
JaMEes, Went West.

GowEeEN. Went West.

Child by second marriage:

SARAH m. Nathaniel Moulton of York.

FirtH GENERATION,

Amos, son of Richard and Olive (Welch) Pic:l?ernell, lived at
Kitterv Point as a farmer. He married Hannah Hill 4 Dec. 1827.

Children:

Ricrarp b. 5 June 1833; unm.

Susanx. Unm. Deceased. .

Orive J. m. Marshall L. Spinney of Eliot, 9 Sept. 1854.
EstHErR m. Eben Odiorne.

James. Lives in Rhode Island. _

HaAaNNAH JANE. Died at age of sixteen.
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